1980

# Insurance Company of North America v. Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc., Et Al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is a bonding company subrogation case brought by the Insurance Company of North America against Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc., Preben H. Nielsen and Rulon DeYoung. The action was tried before the Court without a jury.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

At the close of all evidence the Court dismissed the action against Rulon DeYoung and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc., and Preben H. Nielsen. A Motion to alter and amend the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and to enter a new judgment was denied by the Court. Preben H. Nielsen appeals from the initial

Judgment and the Order denying the motion to alter or amend the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and to enter a new judgment. No appeal was taken by the corporation.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Preben H. Nielsen seeks a reversal of the judgment against him and judgment against Plaintiff, no cause of action, and that failing, Appellant requests a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACT

Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc., is a Utah corporation that maintains its principal place of business at Salt Lake City, Utah. Preben H. Nielsen was instrumental in forming the corporation in 1972 and at that time the corporate purpose was to engage in the business of travel agency principally in the State of Utah. (Tr. 5) Mr. Nielsen was a stockholder and director of the corporation and owned in excess of fifty percent (50%) of the issued stock. There were other stockholders however.

In order to engage in the travel business, it is almost essential that the agency receive an appointment from Air Traffic Conference of America. Air Traffic Conference (ATC) is an unincorporated trade association formed by all of the domestic scheduled airlines in the United States. It maintains its place of business in Washington, D.C. When a travel agent is appointed an agency by ATC, that agent will then have in its possession the ticket stock and validating stamps of the various airlines. This enables the agent to arrange travel in its office, issue the necessary airline tickets and then bill the customer for the cost. The agent customarily receives a 15% commission on the airline business that it writes. The customer is benefited because, as in the case of many companies, they can arrange employee travel on a credit basis and all of the details of travel are worked out by the agency.

One of the applications for agency status was introduced as an exhibit in the case. (Ex. 8)

As a condition to the appointment as an ATC agent it was

necessary that Lanseair furnish a bond in the amount of \$10,000. Both the Application for Bond and the Indemnity portion of the bond, a part of the application packet furnished to Lanseair by ATC, and the completed bond application was returned by Lanseair to ATC and not the bonding company. (Tr. 76-77) The bonding company is the Plaintiff - Respondent herein, Insurance Company of North America (INA).

The Application for Bond and Indemnity Agreement signed by Mr. Nielsen are extremely significant in the determination of this case and a copy has been appended to this Brief. We ask the Court to be mindful that on the reverse side of Exhibit I and the last statement on the bottom of the page reads:

"APPLICATION FOR BOND GIVEN BY TRAVEL AGENCY  
TO AIR TRAFFIC CONFERENCE, WASHINGTON, D.C."

Mr. Nielsen did not at any time have any knowledge of any relationship between ATC and INA and no knowledge whatsoever as to the agent or broker with whom ATC conducted its INA bonding business. (Tr. 77-78)

Shortly after the formation of Lanseair Travel Agency, Rulon DeYoung became the principal employee of the business. (Tr. 109) Mr. Nielsen had full time employment as an officer of Deseret Federal Savings and Loan Association and supervised the Lanseair Travel Agency. The business was operated successfully and all remittances were timely made to ATC for air transportation sold by the agency to and including the 31st day of August, 1974.

In the summer of 1974, Mr. DeYoung had expressed an interest in acquiring the majority of the stock control of the agency. Negotiations



between Mr. Nielsen and Mr. DeYoung resulted in the execution of a stock purchase agreement and promissory note on August 23, 1974.

(Ex. 12)

On that date (August 23, 1974) Mr. Nielsen wrote a letter to Air Traffic Conference, a copy of the letter (Exhibit 46) is reproduced at this point in the brief because of significance.

"August 23, 1974

Mr. John S. Rice  
Air Traffic Conference of America  
1000 Connecticut Ave. N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20036

RE: Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc.  
1836 West North Temple St.  
Salt Lake City, Utah 84116

Dear Mr. Rice:

Referring to Agency Rules, Resolution 810a, Section B, Paragraph (9), you are hereby notified that as of August 23, 1974 the controlling interest of Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc. was transferred from P. H. Nielsen and S. L. Hardy to Rulon DeYoung, 1015 East 3825 South, Salt Lake City, Utah.

Mr. DeYoung, who has managed Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc. since its beginning, has today purchased the stock held by P.H. Nielsen and E.L. Hardy (43,500 shares) and thus gained the controlling interest of said Agency. Mr. DeYoung has today assumed the position of President of Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc. and P.H. Nielsen and E. L. Hardy have resigned from their positions with Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc. leaving Mr. DeYoung free to name his new officers and members of the Board of Directors.

Please change your records accordingly, and also be notified that P. H. Nielsen and E. L. Hardy will assume no personal liability or responsibility in connection with the future business transactions of Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc., this also applies to any possible personal liability or guaranty with the ATC bond. Please notify your bonding company of this change.

Very truly yours,

P.H. Nielsen

P.H. Nielsen  
2899 Branch Dr.  
Salt Lake City, Utah 84117"

The reason Mr. Nielsen wrote directly to ATC in connection with the sale of the business and termination of his responsibility on the bond is that was the only address he had ever been given. This ties directly with Plaintiff's Exhibit I, relative to the office to whom the bond application should be delivered.

After August 23, 1974, Mr. DeYoung assumed full and complete control of the business affairs of Lanseair Travel Agency.

It will be significant to note at this point that the ATC required the travel agency to remit the amount received for airline tickets less commissions on the tenth, twentieth and end of each month.

The remittance to ATC by Lanseair was made and the check honored for the 30th of August, 1974. (One week to the day after Appellant sold the business and forwarded Exhibit 46 to ATC.) Thereafter, for the remittance period of September 10, 1974 the Lanseair check dated September 13, 1974 in the amount of \$3,742.83 was returned "refer to maker". (Exhibit 10) Later, a check in the amount of \$6,201.64 from Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc., to ATC on the 25th day of September, 1974 was returned marked "refer to maker". (Exhibit 11)

The reason that these checks were returned to the maker is not clear from the evidence. By the end of September, 1974, Mr. DeYoung had ceased the business activities of Lanseair. The bank account

of Lanseair Travel showed a balance at the end of August of \$14,685.17. There were deposits to the account of approximately \$10,000. There was testimony also that approximately \$35,000 was deposited in the account in September. At best the record on the balance of the account is confusing and the reason why the two checks to ATC (Exhibits I0 and II) were not honored by the bank is far from clear. (Tr. 126 - 137, 234 - 245) At all events, the first indication that Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc. would not be able to continue in business was a letter from Plaintiff INA to ATC dated September 10, 1974. (Exhibit 20) This letter indicates that the bond was cancelled that date and that the cancellation would be effective October 10, 1974. Evidently a copy of this exhibit was mailed to Lanseair as well as ATC. The action of INA preceded the delivery and dishonor of the check dated September 13, 1974. (Exhibit I0) This check appears to have been processed by the First Security Bank in Salt Lake City on September 18, 1974 and returned as of that date. There is no reason for the bonding company to have cancelled the bond as of that date unless it had received word from ATC of a change in agency status and the revocation of Mr. Nielsen's indemnity agreement. Significantly, not one employee or other representative of INA appeared at the trial to explain this action and not one representative of INA even attended the trial. There was no evidence whatever produced by the Plaintiff to show why the bond was cancelled.

## ARGUMENT

**POINT 1: THE INDEMNITY AGREEMENT SIGNED BY PREBEN H. NIELSEN WAS REVOKED BEFORE THE DATE OF THE ALLEGED LOSS AND THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT SO FINDING.**

This point of argument and the following Point of Argument are closely related and both require consideration of testimony and exhibits relating to the Application for Bond (Exhibit I), Bond Verification (Exhibits 16 through 19), the Bond (Exhibit 15), and the letter of termination (Exhibit 46), letter to ATC (Exhibit 41) and Bond Revocation (Exhibit 20).

The majority of the testimony relating to the case of INA came from Ms. Darlene Dolan, an employee of ATC in Washington, D.C. As noted above, no one from INA appeared at the trial or testified in the action. Ms. Dolan testified that she was a supervisor in the area of agency default but was not knowledgeable on questions concerning the bond, bond application and other correspondence appearing in the Lanseair file. (Tr. 184)

Through Ms. Dolan, the Court permitted the introduction of Exhibit 15, the "Bond", over objection. (Tr. 153) The Court will at once note that the bond does not have appended to it a schedule of travel agents. The bond states as follows:

**"KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that Insurance Company of North America, a corporation of the commonwealth of Pennsylvania with the home office in the City of Philadelphia (herein called "Surety") is hereby held and firmly bound unto Air Traffic Conference of America**

(herein called "Obligee"), as agent for and on behalf of any airline member of Obligee contracting with Travel Agent(s) (as named in the attached schedule or as it may be supplemented from time to time by adding, deleting or changing names of Travel Agents therein)."

No one will ever know, if in fact, Lanseair Travel Agency was ever included on the schedule appended to the bond. Why it is missing is unknown. However, since no one from INA appeared at the trial to explain this deletion or to supply a copy of the schedule we must assume that no such schedule exists. It bears a receipt date of August 10, 197(?) although it is dated the 31st day of August, 1966 and it bears no identifying number. Note on Exhibit 17, as an example, that a so called schedule bond number 47977I is set forth but we have no way of knowing whether those premium period receipts relate to the bond relied upon by INA. Furthermore, the evidence was conclusive that Mr. Nielsen had never been furnished a copy of the bond.

The importance of this exhibit cannot be underestimated. If someone is to be charged with agreement of indemnity it is only fair that the underlying agreement (in this case the bond), to which this indemnity agreement allegedly attaches, be identified and the adverse party given a opportunity to cross examine. It should not have been admitted.

The Court is now referred to the Indemnity Agreement (Exhibit 1). It is important to know that it does not contain any period of duration nor does it specify the manner in which it may be terminated by either party. It does contain the following statements which are significant:

"Undersigned agrees that surety may decline to undertake obligation applied for or may cancel or terminate the same,

and will return any unearned premium due on demand, all free of any claim for loss of damage by undersigned."

...

"The Undersigned further agrees to reimburse surety for all expenses incurred in forcing the provision of this policy, and agrees to pay premiums annually in advance at a rate to be agreed upon."

As shown by the evidence, the agency operated successfully through August 31, 1974. On the 23rd day of August, 1974, negotiations between Mr. Nielsen and the agency manager, Mr. DeYoung culminated in an agreement of sale. (Exhibit 12) The agreement is signed by Mr. DeYoung as President of the corporation and Mr. Nielsen and Mr. Hardy as stockholders.

On that day, Mr. Nielsen directed his letter (Exhibit 4 and 46) to ATC stating that the agency had been sold and requesting that they advise their bonding company that he would no longer be responsible on the bond.

Ms. Dolan testified that the letter, from Mr. Nielsen, was not in the Lanseair file. She did not testify that it was not received by ATC and admitted that had it been received by ATC it would have been directed to someone other than herself. She did not know who that would have been at the time. (Tr. 189) Although she was not the person who would have carried out the instruction to notify the bonding company, she did testify that ATC would simply have ignored that request. (Tr. 190) Of course, that does not prove that the person that received the letter did not carry out the instructions it contained.

The additional fact that clearly shows that the bonding company must have had knowledge of the termination of the indemnity agreement

is that before there was any question about the status of the Lanseair account, the bonding company gave the notice to ATC that it was terminating the bond. (Exhibit 20 dated September 10, 1974) No one from INA testified concerning the reason bond was terminated at a time when the affairs of Lanseair Travel were in perfect order. It must be concluded that they had in fact received notice of the cancellation of the indemnity agreement from Mr. Nielsen.

Where an indemnity agreement is silent as to its duration, it may be cancelled by either party at will on notice.

"A contract of indemnity continues in force only during such time as is expressly or impliedly provided for in the contract, and at no time is fixed for its duration, it is a contract terminable at the will of either party. "  
41 Am Jur 2nd, Indemnity, Section 8.

The above principal is supported in the case of American Surety Company vs. Blake, 54 Idaho 1, 27 P2d 972.

The lower Court in substance found that Mr. Nielsen did not prove that the letter of August 23, 1974 was ever delivered to ATC or that INA had any notice or knowledge thereof and that ATC was not the agent of INA so that notice given to them would be binding on the bonding company.

Those findings which are paraphrased above are contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. It was shown that either ATC or INA directed that the indemnity agreement be delivered to ATC and that was the only entity with which Mr. Nielsen had any dealings concerning the bond. The letter was mailed by Mr. Nielsen and never returned to him. A later letter, by Mr. Nielsen (Exhibit 41), was delivered to ATC and was in their file at the time of trial. This letter was mailed to the identical address that Mr. Nielsen mailed the letter of August 23, 1974.

This, coupled with the fact that the bonding company terminated, for no apparent reason, leads to the inescapable conclusion that ATC had notice and that the bonding company also had notice.

The bond in this case, admitted over objection, is unique. The procedure of adding or deleting entities from a schedule from time to time is not the usual method utilized by an insurance company to bond an insurer. Usually, an individual bond is written on each undertaking assumed by an insurance company. There are direct dealings between insurance company, the party bonded, and the party in favor of whom the bond is written. In this case, most of these lines of communication are absent. Legal interpretation of this type of bond is virtually nil except for the Hoyt case.

The point urged by Mr. Nielsen is that inasmuch as INA had no communication with either Lanseir or Mr. Nielsen concerning the bond and indemnity agreement, INA cannot be heard to complain that notice to ATC of indemnity termination was not given to the property party. On the printed indemnity agreement appended to this brief it states:

"APPLICATION FOR BOND GIVEN BY TRAVEL AGENT TO  
AIR TRAFFIC CONFERENCE, WASHINGTON D.C."

Contrary to the findings of the Court, ATC was obviously the agent to INA to receive communications from indemnitors. Mr. Nielsen never had any communication from the bonding company prior to the alleged loss and no knowledge of the office of INA in which to direct communications and would naturally deal with the same party to whom he had sent the initial application. INA is estopped from denying that ATC is an agent for the purpose of receiving notices under the bond.



**POINT II: BOND COVERAGE AND THE INDEMNITY AGREEMENT TERMINATED FOR NON-PAYMENT OF PREMIUM ON SEPTEMBER 1, 1974 PRIOR TO THE ALLEGED LOSS.**

The attention of the Court is invited to Exhibits 17, 18, and 19 which are similar and are entitled Memorandum of Bond Verification. The significance of each of these documents is that the premium period in specified in each exhibit. Exhibit 17 shows the premium period from 8/3/72 to 9/1/72. Exhibit 18 shows the premium period to be 9/1/72 to 9/1/73. Exhibit 19 shows the premium period to be from 9/1/73 to 9/1/74. There was never any premium paid by Lanseair Travel or anyone else for any coverage beyond September 1, 1974.

To the date of September 1, 1974, the agency account of Lanseair Travel Agency was in perfect order and the ATC was paid for all airline tickets sold to that date. This was specifically testified to by Mr. DeYoung. (Tr. 126) INA does not contend otherwise. The claim of INA is for airline tickets sold subsequent to September 1, 1974.

Although elementary, it is well remembered that:

" A contract of insurance must be assented to by both parties either in person or by their agent. There must be a meeting of the minds of the parties on the essential terms and elements of the contract. These essential terms include, in general, the following: (1) the subject matter to be insured; (2) the risk insured against; (3) the commencement and period of the risk undertaken by the insurer; (4) the amount of insurance; and (5) the premium and time in which it is to be paid."

42 Am Jur 2nd, Insurance, Section 203.

In this case the commencement was September 1, 1973 and the period was to September 1, 1974. (Exhibit 19) The premium was to be paid annually in advance. (Ex. 1)

The conclusion to be drawn is that when the premium period expired on 9/1/74 the indemnity agreement terminated on that date because there was no insurance contract to which indemnity could attach.

The case that supports this conclusion in all particulars is that of Insurance Company of North America -vs- Hoyt, 419 F2d 1148 (1969). In this case INA brought suit against an indemnitor on a bond issued to Air Traffic Conference where a travel agent had been included on the schedule bond.

The language of the indemnity agreement appears to be identical with that of Exhibit 1 in this case. The individual indemnity agreement signed by Mr. Nielsen is identical.

In the Hoyt case, the agent applied for inclusion on the bond in 1963. The application was granted subject to Hoyt executing the indemnity agreement. Likewise, in 1964, the agent was included in the schedule and again Hoyt signed an indemnity agreement. In 1965 the agency was included but no new indemnity agreement was sent. A premium notice was, however, furnished to the agency which was paid and the agency included on the bond for the calendar year of 1965. In June, the agency defaulted in the amount of \$71,000 that it owed to ATC.

The lower court ruled that since a new indemnity agreement had not been forwarded for the year 1965 that the company was satisfied that there was no need for such personal guarantee. The appellate court

ruled, however, that the indemnity agreement was a continuing one and was in effect during 1965 when the default occurred. The Court also ruled that Hoyt's attempt to cancel his indemnity agreement prior to the loss was ineffectual.

In the Hoyt case the loss occurred during the period for which a premium was paid. The Court then made the following observation on this subject which has particular application to our case.

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