1980

Insurance Company of North America v. Lanseair Travel Agency, Inc., Et Al. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

successfully relieved itself of its obligations to the ATC. The trial court's ruling so finding is supported by the uncontradicted evidence.

E. The Trial Court's Evidentiary Rulings Are Correct, but Any Technical Errors Are Harmless in Any Event. Defendant Nielsen challenges the trial court's decision to receive in evidence a number of exhibits unfavorable to him. None of these challenges is valid.

(1) The Schedule Bond. The Schedule Bond (Exhibit 15-P) was admitted by the trial court over defendant Nielsen's objection. A review of the Transcript will reveal, however, that the only objection to the admission of this bond was that it was hearsay:

MR. GARRETT: If Your Honor please, we object to Exhibit 15 on the grounds that there is no proper foundation showing that Lanseair Travel had any knowledge of the contents of this bond. It's hearsay as far as they are concerned.

Transcript at 152-53 (R. at 723-24). The objection that the bond was hearsay is without merit because the bond was admitted not for the purpose of proving the truth of any statement contained in it, but rather for the purpose of establishing its terms and provisions and the conditions of INA's obligation to the ATC. Any objection that the copy of the bond actually received as Exhibit 15-P was not the best evidence

of the provisions of the Schedule Bond was waived since, as reported by American Jurisprudence, the rule is that on appeal a party will be limited

to the specific objections to evidence made at the trial, and the appellate court will consider only such grounds of objection as are specified. In other words, a party is confined to the specific objections made by him and can have the benefit of no others.

75 AmJur 2d Trial, §167 at 255. See also, State v. Kelbach, 23 Utah 2d 231, 461 P.2d 297 (1969); State v. Valdez, 19 Utah 2d 426, 432 P.2d 53 (1967); Porcupine Reservoir Company v. Lloyd W. Keller Corporation, 15 Utah 2d 318, 392 P.2d 620 (1964); Pettingill v. Perkins, 2 Utah 2d 266, 272 P.2d 185 (1954).

Moreover, even if viewed as hearsay, the exhibit was clearly admissible under the business records exception. The trial court's admission of the exhibit was entirely proper.

(2) The Documents Received by the ATC.

Defendant Nielsen also complains (Br. App. at 19-20) that the trial court admitted exhibits and permitted testimony of loss substantiation submitted to the ATC by the airlines. Mrs. Darlene Dolan evaluated these claims and relied upon them in preparing the proof-of-loss submitted to INA. (Tr. at 167-68; R. at 738-39.) For example, Exhibit 37-P is a compilation of the claims in regard to the Lanseair default:

(complete with supporting photostatic copies of passenger tickets and debit memos) submitted by the airlines to the ATC; Exhibit 36-P is a CPA's verification of the airlines' claims which was received by Mrs. Dolan as an attachment to INA's request (Exhibit 27-P) that a formal proof-of-loss be prepared and submitted; and Exhibit 28-P is the formal proof-of-loss sworn to by Mrs. Dolan on behalf of the ATC and submitted to INA.

At trial, defendant Nielsen objected to the admission of these exhibits as hearsay. The court admitted the exhibits on the basis that even if hearsay they were admissible under the so-called business records exception to Rule 63 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, which provides:

Evidence of a statement which is made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing offered to prove the truth of the matter stated is hearsay evidence and inadmissible except:

. . . .

(13) Business entries and the like. Writings offered as memoranda or records of acts, conditions or events to prove the facts stated therein, if the judge finds that they were made in the regular course of a business at or about the time of the act, condition or event recorded, and that the sources of information from which made and the method and circumstances of their preparation were

such as to indicate their trustworthi-
ness

Rule 63 Utah Rules of Evidence (emphasis added). The proof of loss (Exhibit 28-P), the airlines' claims (Exhibit 37-P), and the evaluation thereof (Exhibits 27-P and 36-P) were admitted not to prove the truth of the statements made therein (i.e. that a loss in a certain dollar amount had occurred), but to prove that INA had demanded and received reasonable evidence from the ATC of the losses sustained as a result of Lanseair's default. For this purpose, the exhibits are not hearsay. All other possible objections to the admission of these exhibits were waived by defendant Nielsen's failure to bring such grounds, if any, to the attention of the trial court. (Point I(E)(1), supra.)

Moreover, even if these exhibits do constitute hearsay, they were admissible under the business records exception. Each of these exhibits was produced by Mrs. Darlene Dolan from the files of the ATC, which it was her responsibility to maintain and control. (Tr. at 146-47; R. at 747-48.) The trustworthiness of the documents is attested to by the fact that they were routinely produced by several of the airlines that comprise the ATC. There would simply be no reason for a national airline to falsify its records so as to enable INA to impose an unjust obligation against defendant Nielsen. Implicit in the trial court's admission

of these documents is a finding of trustworthiness sufficient to satisfy the requirements of Rule 63(13).

Finally, even if the admission of all of these exhibits was erroneous, the error would be harmless. As noted above, with the introduction of the indemnity agreement (Exhibit 1-P) and the canceled check by which INA made payment to the ATC (Exhibit 32-P), INA established a prima facie case and the burden shifted to defendant Nielsen to demonstrate grounds sufficient to constitute a defense, which he failed to do. Therefore, even if all of the other exhibits received by the trial court were erroneously received, there is still sufficient evidence properly admitted to support the Judgment entered against defendant Nielsen.

(3) The Alleged Credits. Defendant Nielsen also contends that the trial court erred in refusing to admit Exhibit 45-D, which consisted of auditor's coupons, void flight coupons, and audit detail in connection with credit card sales. (Tr. at 247; R. at 818.) Defendant Nielsen claimed that these materials constituted a credit to be allowed as an offset against his liability to INA. The trial court, however, refused to admit the exhibit on the basis that neither defendant Nielsen nor anyone else had brought the alleged credits to the attention of INA prior

to its payment to the ATC on January 22, 1975. (Tr. at 25; 55; R. at 822-26.) The trial court thus found that defendant Nielsen had waived or become estopped to assert any claim to these credits by his dilatory conduct. (R. at 386 and 391.)

Defendant Nielsen attempted to introduce the audit detail allegedly constituting this credit through the testimony of Rulon DeYoung. It was Mr. DeYoung's own testimony, however, that these "credits" were not presented even to the ATC prior to INA's payment of the Lanseair claim:

MR. DART: If I could voir dire one more question, during the time that you had these tickets that may or may not be credits, were they ever presented to the Air Traffic Conference to be treated by them and be reviewed by them to determine if they would give you a credit for them prior to February, 1975?

MR. DeYOUNG: To my knowledge, no. Transcript at 252 (R. at 823). Thus, when INA paid the ATC's claim on January 22, 1975, these alleged credits had never been mentioned; the Record firmly supports the trial court's ruling.

Moreover, when advised of the apparent Lanseair default, defendant Nielsen made no effort to bring any "credits" to the attention of either the ATC or INA; he merely proclaimed that his alleged letter of August 23, 1975,

shielded him from all liability. Exhibit 3-P, for example, was received into evidence without objection. That exhibit is a copy both of INA's letter to defendant Nielsen and of his response, written across the bottom, that "the enclosed copy of letter mailed to Air Traffic Conference should be self-explanatory." He made no mention of "credits".

Likewise, in response to a similar notification from Marsh and McLennan, INA's broker in the District of Columbia, defendant Nielsen responded on November 4, 1974, merely with the assertion that he had relieved himself of all liability under the indemnity agreement. Again, he made no mention of the credits he now claims. (Exhibit 2-P.) Moreover, it is significant to note that in the course of making a proffer to the trial court, defendant Nielsen's counsel stated:

I would further offer the fact that, Your Honor, when the first demand was made upon Lanseair and Mr. Nielsen by anyone in this matter and before the bonding company paid the claim that they were advised as to the existence of these credits.

Now, I think there may be a letter that I can offer in support of that if I can have a moment--if I have a moment, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Why don't we take a recess at this point and give you a moment.

Transcript at 255-56 (R. at 826-27). When court resumed

session some twenty minutes later Mr. Garrett acknowledged:

I have been unable to locate the letter that I thought existed. I thought it was in evidence to the bonding company concerning the credits.

Transcript at 256 (R. at 827). No such letter was ever offered on behalf of defendant Nielsen. Accordingly, the evidence is uncontradicted that INA had no notice of defendant Nielsen's claim to a credit or offset against his liability until after it had made payment to the ATC on January 22, 1975, based upon the proof-of-loss and extensive documentation submitted by the ATC.

II. THE ATTORNEYS FEES AWARDED TO INA SHOULD BE INCREASED.

The personal indemnity agreement signed by defendant Nielsen provides for the payment of "any and all loss, costs, charges, suits, damages, counsel fees, and expenses of whatever kind or nature" (Exhibit 1-P.) The original complaint in this action was filed on June 7, 1977. Since that time, defendant Nielsen has vigorously sought to avoid the obligations undertaken in his personal indemnity agreement. Following entry of Judgment on March 19, 1979, defendant Nielsen filed a Motion "to alter and amend findings of fact and conclusions of law and enter a new judgment" (R. at 399-410.) Following the denial of this Motion on

July 23, 1979 (R. at 412-13), defendant Nielsen filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court (R. at 414 and 426).

Accordingly, INA has been forced to continue the services of its attorneys not only to defend defendant Nielsen's post-judgment motions, but also to defend this appeal. Since defendant Nielsen has agreed that he will reimburse INA for all attorneys fees reasonably incurred, it is appropriate that the fees awarded to INA be increased in recognition of the additional services rendered since the entry of the original Judgment on March 19, 1979.

The propriety of an additional award on account of attorney's fees incurred on appeal was recognized by this Court in Swain v. Salt Lake Real Estate and Investment Company, 3 Utah 2d 121, 279 P.2d 709 (1955). The trial court in that case had refused to award any attorneys fees to the prevailing purchasers under a uniform real estate contract of which the vendor had sought to declare a forfeiture. This court reversed, holding:

[W]e are of the opinion that the stipulated amount of such fee should cover services rendered in the court below and on appeal. Attorneys' fees on appeal are discretionary with this court

. . . .

279 P.2d at 711 (emphasis added). Although this Court did not, in the cited case, make a specific award of attorneys fees on account of the appeal, the principle that such fees

may be awarded is clearly stated.

The precise question whether a surety is entitled to an additional award against its personal indemnitor for attorneys fees incurred by the surety on appeal was reached by the Oregon Supreme Court in Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company v. Maus, 514 P.2d 61 (Ore. 1973). In that case, the surety brought an action against the personal indemnitor to recover a loss that it had paid on his behalf. The personal indemnitor prevailed at the trial court and the surety appealed. On appeal, the Supreme Court ruled in favor of the surety; thereafter, a petition was filed by the surety to recover its additional attorneys fees incurred on the appeal. The indemnity agreement, like that present in this case, provided that the personal indemnitor would pay "any and all liability for damages, loss, costs, charges, and expenses of whatsoever kind or nature (including counsel and attorney's fees)" 514 P.2d at 61. The Oregon Supreme Court held that, in view of this language, an additional award based upon the attorneys fees incurred by the surety should be entered against the personal indemnitor. The court awarded \$1,500 in additional fees. 514 P.2d at 62.

In Maus, a surety appealing from an adverse judgment was held entitled to an award of additional

attorneys fees incurred on appeal; a fortiori, INA is entitled to an award of additional attorneys fees incurred in defending this appeal from a judgment in its favor.

However, in view of this Court's holding in Beckstrom v. Beckstrom, 578 P.2d 520 (Utah 1978), plaintiff-respondent INA hereby abandons the remaining portion of its cross-appeal in which it asserted that the trial court's award of only \$3,000 in attorneys fees should be set aside since the uncontradicted evidence was that the reasonable amount of such fees was not less than \$6,000.

CONCLUSION

There is much evidence to support each of the Findings made by the trial court, and defendant Nielsen has failed to delineate a single Finding that is not supported by substantial evidence. Upon the introduction of the personal indemnity agreement and the canceled check by which INA made payment on account of Lanseair's default, INA established a prima facie case against defendant Nielsen, which he failed to rebut.

As his principal line of defense, defendant Nielsen contends that his obligations to INA were terminated by an incorrectly addressed letter that he alleges he mailed to the ATC on August 23, 1974. An employee of the addressee testified that there was no indication of the letter having

ever been received, and the clear inference to be drawn from her testimony was that the letter had not been received. The trial court's finding that the letter was never received is well supported by the Record.

Even if the alleged letter had been received by the ATC, it would have been insufficient to terminate defendant Nielsen's obligation since the ATC was not an agent of INA. Additionally, even if received, the notice would not have been given in time to terminate defendant Nielsen's obligations prior to Lanseair's default because INA was entitled to a reasonable time to protect its interests. Finally, the letter upon which defendant Nielsen relies is not a clear and precise statement that he wishes to be relieved of his indemnity obligations; it is not addressed to the surety and it requests only that the ATC advise INA of the change of ownership.

Defendant Nielsen's secondary contention that the trial court erred in finding that the bond remained in force at the time of this loss is, likewise, without merit. The Schedule Bond provided that INA could terminate its obligation to the ATC only upon 30-day notice. Lanseair's premium to INA became delinquent September 1, 1974, and almost immediately thereafter INA gave notice to the ATC that the inclusion of Lanseair on the Schedule Bond would be terminated October 10, 1974. Defendant Nielsen agreed that his personal

indemnity agreement should continue through "any continuation" of the bond, therefore, his contention that merely because the premium had become delinquent, he was automatically relieved of all liability is without merit.

Also without merit is defendant Nielsen's complaint that the trial court erred in admitting a copy of the Schedule Bond over his objection that it was hearsay. Since the bond was not offered to prove the truth of any statement it contained, but only to prove the terms and provisions of the bond, it did not constitute hearsay and was properly admitted. Any other possible basis of objection was waived by defendant Nielsen's failure to raise it. The same reasoning applies to the admission of documentation submitted to the ATC by the airlines. Moreover, even if viewed as hearsay, these exhibits were clearly admissible under the business record exception.

Defendant Nielsen's final complaint is that the trial court erred in failing to allow alleged credits as an offset. The trial court rejected evidence of these "credits" on the basis that defendant Nielsen had waived or become estopped to assert them against INA. In response to notification from INA of Lanseair's default and its intention to look to defendant Nielsen for reimbursement, defendant Nielsen replied merely that he had terminated his indemnity;

he made no effort to advise INA of the existence of the alleged credits. There is ample evidence to support the trial court's ruling that, not having been timely raised, these credits could not constitute an offset.

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